KATHY VIRGINIA RAY

APPELLANT-PLAINTIFFS

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-00744

BLOCKBUSTER, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION, AND CRYSTAL ADAMS, INDIVIDUALLY

APPELLEE-DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT HONORABLE W. SWAN YERGER

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPELLANT KATHY VIRGINIA RAY

Michael R. Brown

The Michael R. Brown Law Offices, PLLC 120 N. Congress St, Suite 230 Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: (601) 948-5330 Facsimile: (601) 948-5415

Rogen K. Chhabra Gibbs, P.A. Tabor, Chhabra & Gibbs, P.A. 120 North Congress Street, Suite 200 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 914-1512 Facsimile: (601) 914-1511 Attorneys for Appellant, Kathy Virginia Ray

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:

ļ

1

ł

.

\$

ŝ

i

ļ

{ :

820 So. 2nd 3 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)

Wilson v. Allday, 487 So. 2d 793 (Miss. 1986) Stanley v. Morgan & Lindey, Inc., 203 So.2d 473 (Miss. 1967)

Jackson v. K-Mart Corp., 182 N.J. Super. 645 A.2d 1087 (1981)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.The trial court erred in citing Brookhaven as binding authority
to dismiss this case because Brookhaven is distinguished, and
this case is controlled by Wilson v. Allday. The Trial Court
therefore erred in Granting the Motion for Summary
Judgment.

II. Plaintiff originally preserved, but chooses not to address, the
 Lower Court's Granting of the Motion to Strike, because
 Granting the Summary Judgment Motion was in error
 regardless.

÷

ŧ

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kathy Virginia Ray (hereinafter Ms. Ray, Plaintiff or Appellant) exited a Clinton, Mississippi Blockbuster on April 22, 2002. She stepped off the curb to the parking lot within the path of egress from the store. She was injured when she fell into a pothole located just below the curb existing just a few feet from the store's door. Defendant (Hereinafter referred to as Blockbuster) claims it was not responsible for anything that happened outside of the confines of its store. It further attempts to shift the duties regarding ingress and egress for its patrons to its landlord. As will be shown in the argument below, Blockbuster clearly owed legal duties to Plaintiff given the location of the pothole, Blockbuster's legal relationship to the property, and settled law addressing Blockbuster's responsibilities.

1.

Į .

.

Blockbuster had permission to possess and occupy the building space and the parking lot pursuant to a written lease with Madison Development; Blockbuster was in a position to determine potential dangers. (R. at 5-7, 33, 54, and 82). It is undisputed that the lease between Blockbuster and Madison Development covered the building space and parking lot. (R. at 33, 35, 54, and 59). It is also undisputed that with regard to the parking lot and sidewalks, Blockbuster was required to maintain its own insurance, and defend actions based on its own negligence among other responsibilities included in the parties' legal relationship (R. at 35 and 80). In addition, the common areas owned by Madison Development were a "material consideration" for Blockbusters "access, visibility, or parking", which possession rights were guarded by the lease. (R. at 59). Blockbuster customers and employees parked in the parking lot serving the stores' business interests.

Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment claiming Blockbuster should be absolved of all liability for a condition in the parking lot near the store's exit. Blockbuster reasoned that it only had legal control over the interior portion of the store. Blockbuster claimed it did not have "ownership" or "control" over the parking lot and therefore should be relieved of any and all potential liability. (R. at 22). The Trial Court improperly relied on <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home, Inc. v. Hill</u>, 820 So. 2nd 3 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), which is wholly inapplicable to the facts of this case.

ļ

÷

.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Blockbuster exercised occupation, or possession and control of its parking lot, such that it should be held liable for injuries caused by the parking lots defective condition. Wilson v. Allday, 487 So. 2d 793 (Miss. 1986). The trial court's ruling and Blockbuster's arguments regarding ownership and control have missed the focus of longstanding Mississippi jurisprudence regarding "possession and control." In determining liability, Blockbuster was absolutely in the best position to warn customers of defects in its parking lot because it was in a legal position of possession, occupation, and control. At the very least, the Lease Agreement with the lot owner, creates a genuine issue of material fact as to who occupied, or possessed and controlled the premises (and to what extent). By its own nature, the subject lease agreement was an agreement for some amount of occupation or possession and control. (See, R at. 54 regarding the right to erect signage in the common area, R. at 59 regarding protecting Blockbuster's access, visibility, and parking in the common area, R. at 35 regarding tenant's obligations to provide its own insurance and defend actions based on its own negligence stemming from its rights in the common area, See also, R. at 33 regarding the right to use the parking lot.)

The trial court's ruling effectively places the sole burden of all possible legal responsibility in landlord-tenant relationships where a lot owner leases business space and rights to a common area, on the shoulders of landlords only, with regard to conditions in the common area. The trial court's ruling leaves no room for apportionment of responsibility even to those who use the common areas to suit their business needs. It instead requires often rightfully absent landlords to bear responsibility

ţ

í

for the negligence of the tenants when, said negligence occurs within the areas the tenants are allowed to use.

Ì.

1

/

ļ

Since there is a genuinely triable issue of material fact on whether Blockbuster "occupied" or "possessed and controlled" the subject premised, the Summary Judgment should be revered and remanded.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in citing <u>Brookhaven</u> as binding authority to dismiss this case because Brookhaven is completely distinguished

A. Blockbuster "occupied" or "possessed and controlled" the subject premises.

Mississippi case law is clear that "occupation" or "possession and control" are sufficient to require a legal duty from a business to a business invitee to keep the property in safe condition. <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home, Inc. v. Hill</u>, 820 So.2d 3, 6 (Miss. App. 2002) (citing <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>, 487 So. 2d 793 (Miss. 1986). Blockbuster clearly had at least some degree of possession and control of the subject property where Ms. Ray fell, yet they continue to improperly focus on "*ownership* and control" as the sole determining factor. They ignore the "possession and control" language used by the very case they cite.

B. The Trial Court and Blockbuster misinterpret and misapply the Brookhaven case.

Blockbuster would like this Court to ignore the analogous case of <u>Wilson v.</u> <u>Allday</u> where the tortfeasor did not "own" but used, and therefore, "possessed" the adjacent parking lot when considering the use as it occurred. Instead, Blockbuster wants us to focus on the result in the <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home</u> case where the City of Brookhaven (**not** the tortfeasor), "owned", "controlled", "possessed" and "occupied" the sidewalk at issue. Blockbuster's Motion for Summary Judgment claims:

Because the Lease and First Amendment to the Lease between Blockbuster and Madison clearly establish that Madison was the entity which **owned** and/or controlled the parking lot in which Plaintiff fell, the Defendants Blockbuster and Crystal Adams should be dismissed with prejudice from this lawsuit."

Similarly, Blockbuster's Conclusion states,

÷

ţ

"The Plaintiff's suit against Blockbuster and Crystal Adams should be dismissed because the parking lot where the Plaintiff fell was not *owned* by Blockbuster or Ms. Adams, but was *owned* by Madison Development, the business entity who ultimately repaired the parking lot." (R. at 22 and 23). (emphasis added).

Defendant's interpretation of <u>Brookhaven</u> and the Trial Court's subsequent ruling failed to take into account whether there was a genuine issue of material fact as to Blockbuster's explicit and implicit occupation, or possession and control of the parking lot. They also improperly ignored legal relationship between Blockbuster and the lot owner allowing occupation, or possession and control over the parking lot.

The legal relationship between Blockbuster and Madison Development (Blockbuster's landlord) is also relevant to the inquiry. The Court in <u>Brookhaven</u> asserted that the Plaintiff was, "required to show the funeral home's legal relationship to the allegedly dangerous segment of the sidewalk" when explaining how the requirements of <u>Wilson v. Allday</u> were not met in <u>Brookhaven</u> (requirements that the <u>Brookhaven</u> Court did not abandon). <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home, Inc. v. Hill</u>, 820 So.2d 3,6 (¶ 14) (Miss. App. 2002), *See also*, <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>, 487 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1986).

The only connections between the funeral home sued in <u>Brookhaven</u>, and the sidewalk where the fall occurred, was that the sidewalk was adjacent to the funeral home. There was no lease implicating a potential legal relationship between the funeral home and the sidewalk owner. There was no explicit, nor written, right of the funeral home to occupy, possess or control the sidewalk for any specific purpose, except for that which might be inferred from the location of the sidewalk nearby (and the general rights of persons to use publicly owned property). The <u>Brookhaven</u> Court concluded, "Since the funeral home's *occupation or* ownership of the sidewalk was never shown, we reverse and enter judgment for Brookhaven Funeral Home" Id. at ¶ 20. (*emphasis added*).

ŧ.

ļ .

Blockbuster's daily use (possession) of the parking lot in question is completely distinguished from the facts in <u>Brookhaven</u>. Accordingly, the fact finder should determine whether that use combined with the terms of the lease agreement are sufficient to establish "possession and control" such that liability would be implicated. (R. at 59, *See also, "Summary of the Argument" above, citing lease sections illustrating Blockbuster's rights of occupation or possession and control*).

II. This claim is completely controlled by the case of Wilson v. Allday

<u>Wilson v. Allday</u> is directly analogous to the case at hand. In <u>Wilson</u>, the National Foods Store (with whom Allday was associated) leased property including the rights to use a parking lot maintained by the lot owner. The Plaintiff fell due to a pothole in the parking lot while she was in the path of ingress and egress. The dangerous condition in <u>Wilson</u> did not exist as close to the store's door in this case. The Court nevertheless found triable issues. The Court indicated, "The main issue in this case is whether a lessee would be liable to a third party for injuries received on the property incidental to (*but not on*) demised property, common area --- parking lot) which lessor had agreed to maintain in good repair...The lease agreement with National Foods Store included free use of the parking lot to be maintained by the lessor for the use of the lessee and the customers of the lessee." <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>, 487 So. 2d 793 (Miss. 1986) (*also citing and explaining* <u>Stanley v. Morgan & Lindey, Inc.</u>, 203 So.2d 473 (Miss. 1967).

The Court reasoned "Occupation, or possession, and control is usually one of the attributes that must be shown as a basis for liability on the part of an owner or occupant of premises for injuries resulting from the condition of the premises." <u>Wilson</u>, at 796 following (62 Am.Jur.2d Premises Liability § 12), (emphasis added).

Most importantly, <u>Wilson</u> explained the factors determining concurrent

responsibility in landlord-tenant relationships involving the possession rights to adjacent surfaces. <u>Wilson</u> held "Thus, it has been held that a tenant may be responsible for the condition of approaches and stairways, or a parking area. His duty or responsibility also

applies to parts of the premises used in common with other tenants." Wilson at 797,

following (52 C.J.S. Landlord & Tenant, § 436.), (See also, R. at 62, Paragraph 25 of

First Amendment to Lease, and R. at 35, Original Lease regarding proportionate share of

maintenance born by tenants.)

The Wilson Court also adopted the reasoning in Jackson v. K-Mart Corp., 182

N.J. Super. 645 A.2d 1087 (1981). In Jackson, a patron fell on a sidewalk also owned and

maintained by the lot owner but servicing the store. In adopting Jackson, Wilson stated:

The (Jackson) court held that the store was not entitled to summary judgment because its liability was concurrent with that of the lot owner. K-Mart leased the store, but another Defendant was responsible for the maintenance of the sidewalk. In addressing the issue, the Court stated:

These circumstances invite the following conclusions of law and policy:

(1) The operator of a commercial establishment must provide reasonably safe premises for business invitees

(2) No distinction should be made between the operator-owner and the operator-tenant, since in either case it is the operator who is in the best position to discovery any dangerous condition.

(3) The duty to provide a reasonably safe premises includes a duty to provide a safe path of egress from the premises

It would appear that a tenant/lessee/occupier of the premises owes a duty of reasonable care to its invitees for the demised property and such necessary incidental areas substantially under its control (as the parking lot) and when he invites the public to use, notwithstanding a maintenance agreement with the landlord. While such agreement may serve as the basis for recovery against the lessor, it does not absolve the lessee of his duty to his invitees under the circumstances.

Wilson at 797-798. (emphasis added to illustrate citation within Wilson).

<u>Wilson</u> also pointed out that determining whether there is control or possession of adjacent areas servicing leased properties, involves looking at the tenants power to prevent injury given the tenants presence in the parking lot. <u>Wilson at 796-797</u>.

Blockbuster paid for maintenance of common areas over which it was allowed some possession and control. (R. at 62). Blockbuster could control that employees were allowed to park on the parking lot. (R. at 33, 82 and 5-6). It could control whether or not to allow patrons, specifically referred to in the lease as "invitees", to park there as well. <u>Id.</u> at 33. In addition, Blockbuster was allowed rights to service areas, sidewalks, and facilities for the parking of automobiles at any time and from time to time existing in the shopping center <u>Id.</u>

Finally, Blockbuster even covenanted to defend actions based on its own negligence with regard to common areas among the others (R. at 35). The lease states:

Lessee (Blockbuster) agrees to and does hereby indemnify and save Lessor (Madison) harmless against any and all claims, demands, damages, costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees for the defense thereof arising from the conduct or management of the business conducted by Lessee in the demised premises, or from any breach or default on the part of Lessee in the performance of any covenant or agreement on the part of the Lessee to be performed, pursuant to the terms of the lease, or from any act or negligence of Lessee, its agents, contractors, servants, and employees in or about the demised premises, the sidewalks adjoining the same and the other areas of the shopping center used by Lessee in common with others. In the event any action or proceeding is brought against Lessor by reason of any such claim, Lessee covenants to defend such proceeding, by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Lessor.

(R. at 35) (party names added for clarification, additional emphasis added, UNDERLINED SECTION DELETED IN CONTRACT NEGOTIATONS).

While the existence of a risk-shifting provision does not control who an injured plaintiff must sue, it shows the parties legal relationship required by this Court in <u>Brookhaven</u> and <u>Wilson</u>. It reveals the intent of the parties not to impose sole legal responsibility on the

lot owner with regard to actionable conduct associated with the common areas. Blockbuster should be equitably stopped from claiming it could never have had any liability as to its actionable conduct related to the common area especially when it negotiated the right to choose its own counsel to defend such actions.

The Court is not asked to determine whether the extent of possession and control is enough to automatically impose liability, but that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether it could. In relying on <u>Brookhaven</u>, the lower court did not consider how the complete lack of connection between the Brookhaven Funeral Home's property and the municipal sidewalk owner (aside from their locations at the time of injury) differed from the present case. <u>Brookhaven</u> at 7.

II. The trial court erred in Granting Defendant's Motion to Strike.

Plaintiff is not advancing the above argument raised for appeal. It is not necessary, nor essential to reviewing the trial court's Granting of the Motion for Summary Judgment.

CONCLUSION

A legal relationship existed between Blockbuster and the lot owner. That legal relationship contemplated that Blockbuster owed legal duties, had occupation, and/or possession and control of the property. The Court need not determine the extent of occupation, possession, or control, just that there is a clear genuine issue of material fact as to the extent. Ownership (or lack thereof) does not, in and of itself, determine legal responsibility as to conditions on the premises as Defendant concluded. The party in the best position to determine dangers, and means to provide safe ingress and egress for invitees cannot escape liability especially when they are involved in a legal relationship

involving shared responsibilities over common areas that are required to be used for the customers to access the store.

Blockbuster owed duties to its business patrons regardless of ownership. Just because it did not own the pothole, did not mean it did not have the duty to assure a safe path of egress and ingress. Regardless of whether or not Blockbuster was responsible to the landlord to fix the defective condition, its duties did not stop at the corners of its store. The Lower Court's reliance on <u>Brookhaven</u> was misapplied and completely overlooked <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>.

If this Court were to decide that no duties could exist, therefore upholding Summary Judgment, and effectively overturning <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>, it would also impose heightened, sole responsibility on landlords who are not in possession, and who are not in the best position to promptly assess and correct conditions causing dangers in the path of ingress and egress on their property. It would also prevent landlords from appropriately apportioning responsibility to negligent tenants who must necessarily have some limited possession and control over common areas. Absent landlords should not be required to bear the sole burden of legal responsibility as to conditions their negligent tenants know or should know of on the property leased and controlled by those tenants on a regular basis.

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