IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00744

KATHY VIRGINIA RAY

APPELLANT/ PLAINTIFF

V.

BLOCKBUSTER, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION, AND CRYSTAL ADAMS, INDIVIDUALLY

APPELLEE/ DEFENDANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

SUBMITTED BY:

REBECCA B. COWAN, ESQ.
DENISE C. WESLEY, ESQ.
CURRIE, JOHNSON, GRIFFIN,
GAINES & MYERS, P.A.
P.O. BOX 750
JACKSON, MS 39205-0750
TELEPHONE: (601) 969-1010
FACSIMILE: (601) 969-5120

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi law only allows Ms. Ray to receive compensation for her alleged injuries from the party that actually caused those injuries. Under Mississippi law, a business owner like Blockbuster owes its patrons as business invitees a duty to keep its business premises in a reasonably safe condition and to warn of any unsafe conditions on the premises. Thompson v. Chick-fil-A, Inc., 923 So.2d 1049, 1052 (¶ 10) (Miss. App. 2006). This duty applies to premises owned or controlled by Blockbuster. When a business is only a tenant, leasing only a portion of a larger property owned by a lessor, the lease agreement entered into between the tenant and the lessor provides evidence of the tenant business' ownership, possession, and control. Doe v. Cloverleaf Mall, 829 F.Supp, 866, 870-871 (referring to lease terms of tenant defendants to determine ownership and use of parking lot). Additionally, a tenant's control of certain premises it leases can be established by other factual evidence surrounding its use, if any, of the property. Doe v. Cloverleaf Mall, 829 F.Supp, 866, 872 (citing Wilson v. Allday, 487 So.2d 793 (Miss. 1986), as example of case in which there was evidence of tenant's control of parking lot).

Control, however, is not proven by a mere showing that an injury occurred **near** an area owned or controlled by a business. Instead, the business must actually have possession or control of the premises where the defect causing the injury existed. <u>Doe v. Cloverleaf Mall</u>, 829 F.Supp. 866, 872; <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home v. Hill</u>, 820 So.2d 3, 5 (¶ 9). In this case, the lease agreement defining Blockbuster's ownership interest in the parking lot where Ms. Ray fell designates Madison as the legal entity having control and possession of the premises. (R. 59-60/RE 41-42 (¶ 12), R. 61/RE 43 (¶ 16 and 18), R. 63/RE 45 (¶ 28)). And, Ms. Ray failed to provide any evidence that Blockbuster somehow exercised control over the parking lot outside the terms of the lease.

Because Ms. Ray provided no evidence that Blockbuster controlled the parking lot, Blockbuster is not liable under Mississippi law to Ms. Ray for any dangerous conditions on property that it did not control. Therefore, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Blockbuster.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

Under Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment "shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." When reviewing the trial court's grant of summary judgment, the Mississippi Supreme Court conducts a *de novo* review of the record. Glennon v. State Farm Mut. Automobile Ins. Co., 812 So.2d 927, 929 (¶ 5) (Miss. 2002). With regard to the standard of review, the Court in Glennon also stated as follows:

The proponent of a summary judgment bears the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. M.R.C.P. 56(c); Collier v. Trustmark Nat'l Bank, 678 So.2d 693, 696 (Miss. 1996). The non-movant may not defeat the motion merely by responding with general allegations, but must set forth in an affidavit or otherwise, specific facts showing that issues exist which necessitate a trial. Drummond v. Buckley, 627 So.2d 264, 267 (Miss. 1993). After viewing evidentiary matters in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, this Court can only reverse the decision of the trial court if triable issues of fact exist. Travis, 680 So.2d at 216.

Glennon at 929 (¶ 5).

Pursuant to <u>Glennon</u>, the mere allegations set forth in Ms. Ray's response to Blockbuster's motion for summary judgment and reiterated on this appeal are insufficient to reverse the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Blockbuster. Thus, Blockbuster's summary judgment on the issue of duty was properly decided as a question of law. <u>Doe v. Cloverleaf Mall</u>, 829 F.Supp. 866, 873. (S.D. Miss. 1993) (citing <u>Lyle v. Mladinich</u>, 584 So.2d 397, 400 [Miss. 1991], for the proposition that "whether duty exists is question of law; whether duty was breached is issue for fact-finder to resolve").

II. The trial court correctly found that Blockbuster was not liable for Ms. Ray's injuries from a trip and fall accident because the fall occurred in a common area of the shopping center that Blockbuster neither owned nor controlled.

In Brookhaven Funeral Home, Inc. v. Hill, 820 So.2d 3 (Miss. App. 2002), the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that "[i]n order to prove 'liability on the part of an owner or occupant of premises for injuries resulting from the condition of the premises,' a plaintiff must, as a preliminary matter, show that the defendant had occupation or possession and control [of the premises]" Hill, 820 So.2d 3, 6 (¶ 14) (quoting Wilson v. Allday, 487 So.2d 793, 796 (Miss. 1986)). Thus, in a premises liability action such as the incident at issue in this case, Mississippi law requires Ms. Ray to not only establish that a legal relationship existed between herself and Blockbuster, but that law also requires Ms. Ray to establish Blockbuster's legal relationship to the allegedly dangerous premises. Hill, 820 So.2d 3, 6 (¶ 14). Ms. Ray actually acknowledges this requirement in her brief. (Appellant Brief at page 10).

Because Ms. Ray failed to provide any evidence of Blockbuster's legal ownership or control of the parking lot in which she fell, the trial court's dismissal of Ms. Ray's claims against Blockbuster should be affirmed by this Court on appeal.

A. Because the lease agreement between Blockbuster and its landlord, Madison Development, Inc., establishes that Blockbuster did not lease, own or control the parking lot in which Ms. Ray fell, Ms. Ray has failed to prove the element of duty in her negligence claim against Blockbuster.

The case of <u>Brookhaven Funeral Home, Inc., v. Hill,</u> 820 So. 2d 3 (Miss. App. 2002), directly addresses the issues in the present lawsuit against Blockbuster. In <u>Hill</u>, the plaintiff, Deborah Hill, fell on a portion of sidewalk located in front of Brookhaven Funeral Home. <u>Id.</u> at 4 (¶ 1). Although the sidewalk was in front of Brookhaven Funeral Home, it was actually owned by the City of Brookhaven ("the City"). <u>Id.</u> at 4 (¶ 4). In her lawsuit, Ms. Hill only named the funeral home as a

defendant, so the funeral home filed a third party complaint against the City of Brookhaven. <u>Id.</u> at 5 (¶ 5). At trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Ms. Hill and against the funeral home for \$75,000.00. The trial judge found that the City of Brookhaven had no duty to indemnify the funeral home. <u>Id.</u> at 5 (¶ 5). On appeal, the Mississippi Court of Appeals reversed the trial court, holding that Ms. Hill never proved the funeral home's occupation or ownership of the sidewalk on which she fell. <u>Id.</u> at 7 (¶¶19-20).

The Court of Appeals reasoned that in order for the funeral home to be found liable, "the defect must be to premises for which the funeral home has sole or shared legal responsibility, not just to property in the vicinity of the funeral home." <u>Id.</u> at 5 (¶ 9). The court further reasoned that while "[p]rivate landowners are ... responsible for the sidewalks that they own or maintain," it is the responsibility of the complaining party to "show that the defendant had occupation or possession and control [of the premises]." <u>Id.</u> at 6 (¶¶13-14) (citing Stanley v. Morgan & Lindsey, Inc., 203 So.2d 473, 476 (Miss. 1967), and Wilson v. Allday, 487 So.2d 793, 796 (Miss. 1986)).

Like the trial court in the instant case, the <u>Hill</u> court opined that because the sidewalk was owned by the City, not the funeral home, the funeral home could not be held liable for Ms. Hill's injuries. <u>Id.</u> at 7 (¶ 20). The court held that evidence that the City performed the repairs to the sidewalk after Ms. Hill's fall, and evidence that the funeral home transmitted funds to the City to add handrails to the sidewalk area proved that the City controlled the sidewalk <u>Id.</u> at 7 (¶¶ 16-19).

In the present case, Blockbuster is in a position similar to that of the funeral home in Hill. Blockbuster has been sued by Ms. Ray because she fell in an area near the vicinity of the Blockbuster store. However, Ms. Ray did not offer any proof during the summary judgment proceedings that Blockbuster actually owned the parking lot where she fell. Instead, the proof as set forth in the Lease Agreement and First Amendment to Lease conclusively provide that Madison Development, Inc.,

had ownership, control, and possession of the parking lot. (R. 59-60/ RE 41-42 (¶ 12), R. 61/ RE 43 (¶¶16 and 18), R. 63/ RE 45 (¶ 28)). Furthermore, evidence that Madison made the ultimate repairs to the parking lot when Ms. Ray fell, not Blockbuster, clearly evidence that Madison did not relinquish its legal control of the parking area to Blockbuster. (R. 68/ RE 50).

The control exercised by Madison over the parking lot is further supported by the terms of its lease with Blockbuster. For example, the First Amendment to Lease, Paragraph 12, states that Madison, as the Landlord, agrees to comply with laws regulating the common areas of the shopping center at its own expense. (R. 59-60/ RE 41-42). Paragraph 16 declares the fee simple ownership interest that Madison possesses in the Demised Premises and Shopping Center areas, which encompasses the parking lot where Ms. Ray fell. (R. 61/ RE 43). In Paragraph 18, Madison grants Blockbuster only certain rights of access to the parking spaces that it owns. (R. 61/ RE 43). Lastly, Paragraph 28 allows Madison to govern the right to make structural alterations to the interior and exterior of the Demised Premises, and requires Blockbuster to obtain pre-approval from Madison before any changes are made. (R. 63/ RE 45). These sections of the Lease Agreement between Blockbuster and Madison show that Madison had control and possession of the parking lot in front of Blockbuster.

Ms. Ray also argues on appeal that the <u>Hill</u> case is distinguishable from the instant case. While making this argument, however, Ms. Ray completely ignores the fact that the <u>Hill</u> case involved a question of ownership and control of the property on which Ms. Hill suffered her injuries, which is the precise issue set forth by Blockbuster in its Motion for Summary Judgment. The only distinction between the facts of the instant case and those in <u>Hill</u> are that no lease existed establishing that the City of Brookhaven owned the sidewalk on which Ms. Hill fell. In the instant

case, the lease was submitted to the trial court to provide evidence of ownership and control of the parking lot.

Ms. Ray further argues that the proper legal question in determining whether there are genuine issues of material fact is whether she can establish that Blockbuster, as a leasee, breached duties it owed under the lease. However, Ms. Ray ignores the requirement she had to first establish that Blockbuster owed her a duty under Mississippi law.

Since Blockbuster did not control the parking lot where Ms. Ray fell, Blockbuster is not liable for the damages resulting from her fall. Thus, the trial court's dismissal should be affirmed.

B. The trial court properly applied <u>Wilson v. Allday</u> to the specific facts of this case, concluding that Blockbuster was not liable to Ms. Ray because it lacked sufficient control over the parking lot in which Ms. Ray sustained her injuries.

On appeal Ms. Ray argues that Hill is not applicable to the facts of this case. Instead, she characterizes Wilson v. Allday as a case "directly analogous" to her suit against Blockbuster and claims that its holding "completely control[s]" the outcome of this litigation. (Appellant Brief at p. 11). Ms. Ray argues that an application of Wilson v. Allday to the facts before the trial court shows that a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether Blockbuster controlled the property comprising the parking lot. Ms. Ray's argument in this regard, however, was rejected by the court in Doe v. Cloverleaf Mall, 829 F.Supp. 866. There, the court held that the holding in Wilson v. Allday actually requires an injured plaintiff to prove a tenant's control over a premises in order to avoid dismissal for failure to prove the element of duty in a negligence claim. Doe, 829 F.Supp. 866, 873.

In <u>Doe</u>, the plaintiff, Jenny Doe, sued the Cloverleaf Mall, its management company, and five tenant stores in the Cloverleaf Mall: J.C. Penney Company, Inc., K & B Mississippi Corporation, Morrison, Inc., McCrory Corporation, and McRae's. <u>Doe</u>, at 868. The plaintiff claimed she

sustained injuries when she was abducted at gunpoint from the Cloverleaf Mall parking lot on the east side of J.C. Penney's. <u>Doe</u>, at 868. The defendants removed the action to federal court, alleging fraudulent joinder of the non-diverse tenants, and the plaintiff moved for remand. <u>Doe</u>, at 869. The Magistrate Judge heard the motion for remand and, while interpreting <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>, held that the plaintiff had valid claims against the Mississippi resident defendants. <u>Doe</u>, at 869. The district court, on review, reversed the Magistrate Judge's decision, finding that the Magistrate Judge had misapplied and/or misinterpreted the decision in <u>Wilson v. Allday</u>. <u>Doe</u>, at 869.

First, the district court acknowledged that the issue before it was "whether the resident defendants had a duty to maintain the mall parking lot in a reasonably safe condition for mall patrons." Doe, at 870. The court interpreted Mississippi law as applying the following duty to a commercial tenant in regard to the property it leases:

Generally speaking, under Mississippi law, a tenant may be liable for injuries occurring on those parts of the premises which are part of the leasehold; that is, a tenant's duty to invitees extends to those parts of the premises which are actually leased by the tenant. A tenant's duty also extends to areas of the premises not within the leasehold but as to which the tenant has covenanted to maintain and repair, and to areas as to which the tenant exercises actual possession or control. And in the latter instance, that duty of care to invitees devolves upon the tenant even though the lessor has contracted to maintain and repair those parts of the premises.

Doe, at 870.

Second, the court in <u>Doe</u> held that while the <u>Wilson</u> court followed the aforementioned rule, which resulted in its finding that a tenant did have control over the subject parking lot, the facts in <u>Wilson</u> were distinguishable from those in Does's suit against the Cloverleaf Mall. The court recognized that the facts in <u>Wilson</u> showed that the tenant controlled the parking lot to some extent since it had erected a corral in the common parking lot where its employees gathered shopping carts it owned. Additionally, the court held that the tenant in <u>Wilson</u> invited customers to park in the front

of its store and had asked its employees to park in other designated areas. The court in <u>Doe</u>, while arriving at its decision, also provided a laundry list of factors that would <u>not</u> reflect a tenant's position or control over a parking lot:

... The mere use of the parking lot, however, even though this use resulted in economic benefit to these tenants, is not "tantamount to possession and control." See <u>Catherman v. United States</u>, No. 90-CV-576, 1992 WL 175258, U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11120 (N.D.N.Y. July 21, 1992) (mere fact that Defendant's patrons used entrance for access to leased space in building could not reasonably be asserted as divestment of landlord's possession and control of entryway); <u>Craig v. A.A.R. Realty Corp.</u>, 576 A.2d 688, 696 (Del.Super.Ct. 1989) (economic benefit standing alone will not be sufficient to create duty on part of landlord where record otherwise lacks evidence of control; <u>St. Phillips v. O'Donnell</u>, 137 Ill.App.3d 639, 92 Ill.Dec. 354,357, 484 N.E.2d 1209, 1212 (1985) (mere use of parking lot along with customers does not show actual control of parking lot); <u>Hall v. Quivira Square Dev. Co.</u>, 9 Kan.App.2d 243, 675 P.2d 931 (1984) (lessor liable for failure to maintain leased area retained for common use of lessor's tenants where tenants and their customers merely entitled to use common area); <u>Leary v. Lawrence Sales Corp.</u>, 442 Pa. 389, 275 A.2d 32 (1971).

... A tenant's reservation of the right to make repairs or provide security should the landlord fail to do so, where the tenant never exercises that right, cannot give rise to a duty to make such repairs or provide such security. See *873 Catherman v. United States, No. 90-CV-576, 1992 WL 175258, at *13, U.S.Dist. LEXIS 11120 at *39 (citing DeLong v. United States, No. 82-CV-1104, slip op. At *4 (N.D.N.Y. 1983)) (right-to-repair clause in lease "does not provide any support" for contention that tenant is in control of that area of premises); Dopico-Fernandex v. Grand Union Supermarket, 841 F.2d 11, 14 (1st cir.) cert. denied, 488 U.S. 864, 109 S.Ct. 164, 102 L.Ed.2d 135 (1988) (reservation unto tenant of right to perform landlord's obligations upon landlord's failure to do so could not be read to impose any obligation on tenant); Craig v. A.A.R. Realty Corp., 576 A.2d 688 (Del.Super, Ct. 1989) (neither right to inspect premises, nor reservation of right to inspect coupled with right to retake control under certain circumstances amounted to control); Tu Loi v. New Plan Realty Trust, No. 9107273, 1992 WL 392617, *3, U.S.Dist. LEXIS 19279, at *8-9 (E.D.Pa. Dec. 15, 1992) (rejecting plaintiff's contention that landlord's retention of right to repair was tantamount to control over premises); Underhill v. Shactman, 337 Mass. 730, 151 N.E.2d 287 (1958) (where landlord was to maintain passageways and parking area for benefit of stores in shopping center and control over these areas remained in landlord, tenant had no duty with respect to those areas, even though tenant had right to supply extra parking attendants and duty to carry insurance covering persons injured "in or about the [demised] premises").

Doe, 829 F.Supp., 866, 872-873.

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